STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Beaufort County

Honorable G. D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

VARSHEEN ANTUAN SMITH,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000551

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JORDAN WAYBURN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Sep 23 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was trial counsel ineffective by failing to object to an investigator's improper bolstering testimony that he "corroborated" the story of the state's key witness?
2. Did the PCR court err in ruling Rule 404, SCRE, did not bar testimony from the state's key witness that he knows "what kind of guy [petitioner] is" and implied petitioner intimidated witnesses?
3. Was trial counsel ineffective by refusing to object to the solicitor's closing argument where, among other things, she referred to petitioner as an "evil man" five times and invited the jury to speculate about the fact petitioner "has seen the inside of a courtroom" given his prior convictions?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

Procedural History

In 2016 petitioner Varsheen Antuan Smith was indicted for kidnapping, possession of a handgun by a person convicted of a crime of violence, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence. App. 400-08. In February 2018 he was tried before a jury and Judge Goldsmith in Beaufort County. App. 1, 63. Petitioner was represented at trial by Courtney Gibbes, and Mary Jones and Kimberly Smith represented the state. App. 64. The jury found him guilty of all three charges, and Judge Goldsmith sentenced him to twenty-five years in prison on the kidnapping charge and five years for each of the possession charges, all to run concurrently. App. 385:10-20, 397:3-25.

On direct appeal petitioner was represented by Chief Appellate Defender Robert Dudek. Appellate counsel filed an *Anders* brief arguing the trial court "erred by admitting evidence that Monte Ver'mon Steve was found murdered weeks after Andre Frazier's kidnapping." *State v. Smith*, Op. No. 2021-UP-199 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 9, 2021). After re-briefing, the Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions because the issue was unpreserved. *Id.*

Petitioner filed a PCR application on July 8, 2021, and an amended application on November 6, 2022. App. 424-30, 450. He brought six claims that trial counsel was ineffective. App. 450. PCR counsel was Christopher Geel. App. 450. Judge G.D. Morgan held a PCR hearing on November 16, 2022, and Lauren Mims represented the state. App. 450-51. Only petitioner and trial counsel testified at the hearing. App. 453. In July 2023, the PCR court issued an order granting petitioner's application on all six grounds. App. 559-67. The state then filed a

¹ Further facts are presented below as relevant to each of the issues raised.

motion to alter or amend, App. 570, and on April 8, 2024, the court issued an amended order denying petitioner's application, App. 588. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

Factual History

Petitioner was convicted of allegedly kidnapping Andre Frazier on the night of October 25, 2015. App. 401. The entire case came down to Frazier's testimony at trial. He testified that on October 25 he went to visit his friend Ver'mon after leaving Buffalo Wild Wings. App. 151:8-22. On the way, he stopped at a Shell gas station and then pulled up to Ver'mon's house. App. 151:23-152:19. He saw two people outside the house and thought they were Ver'mon and another friend. App. 152:19-152:3. Frazier testified that as he approached, however, he realized it was petitioner and Tyron Wallace. App. 152:21-153:12, 155:10-17. Petitioner then asked Frazier if he spoke to Ver'mon. App. 157:4-19. Frazier testified he asked petitioner where Ver'mon was and petitioner told him he was in the house. App. 157:15-22.

Frazier then approached the house, and he testified that petitioner and Wallace elbowed him in the back, pushed him into the house after "a quick tussle," and pointed a gun at his stomach. App. 158:21-25. Frazier testified he acquiesced and then the two bound him with his belt and gagged him with a rag. App. 159:20-160:2, 162:10-16, 165:1-7. They also took everything in his pockets from him but later returned it all, including Frazier's cell phone. App. 160:17-25, 168:12-15. According to Frazier, petitioner "didn't realize" he gave the phone back. App. 168:13-15. The pair then stepped outside, leaving Frazier alone in the house. App. 168:2-6. Frazier attempted to call the police, but before he finished dialing, he decided not to. App. 168:13-169:9, 192:18-196:21. Frazier testified the pair eventually came back inside with a "different mentality." App. 169:10-12. They apparently untied him and marched him out the front door next to a police car. 169:18-171:2. Frazier testified petitioner had a gun and told him

not to say anything. App. 171:3-11. Frazier just stood there as the police pulled away. App. 172:13-173:4. Frazier did not report his alleged kidnapping until three days later. App. 266:16-25. He testified he was too scared to do so at first. App. 173:20-174:8. Captain Darrell Gruel and Investigator George Erdel interviewed petitioner, and the jury saw the recording. App. 241:5-242:5. They testified Frazier was scared when they interviewed him and that sometimes people do not report crimes out of fear. App. 242:7-243:22, 267:11-268:6.

No evidence confirmed any of Frazier's description of a kidnapping. Only the parts of Frazier's story that are not criminal could be supported: security footage from the gas station showed Frazier bought gas at a Shell station that evening, App. 206:19; Officers Goethie and Wadman testified they responded to a noise complaint near the house around the time in question, implying one of them was driving the police car Frazier saw, App. 261:18-262:6, 254:10-256:8; and Shabonda Williams testified Tyron Wallace and petitioner knew each other, App. 307:12-18. One investigator agreed there was "no forensic or physical evidence that Andre Frazier was even in that house." App. 300:25-301:8. Investigators never located the gun allegedly used. App. 300:6-7.

Ultimately, the jury convicted petitioner of kidnapping, possession of a handgun by a person convicted of a crime of violence, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence. App. 385:13-20. The court of appeals affirmed his convictions on direct appeal in an unpublished decision. *State v. Smith*, Op. No. 2021-UP-199 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 9, 2021).

Petitioner filed his amended PCR application on November 6, 2022, bringing six claims that trial counsel was ineffective. App. 450. After a hearing, the PCR court found trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to certain bad character evidence under Rules 404 and 403,

SCRE, App. 559-61; for failing to object to improper lay-opinion and bolstering, App. 561-62; for failing to redact from an interview statements that petitioner had recently been in prison, App. 562-63; for failing to object to numerous improper comments during the solicitor's closing argument, App. 563-65; and for failing to adequately present petitioner's phone records from which the jury could have inferred he was otherwise busy at the time of the alleged crime, App. 566. The PCR court found each deficiency prejudiced the petitioner at trial and therefore violated his right to the effective assistance of counsel. App. 559-67.

The state then filed a motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, App. 570, and the PCR court reversed course. On almost every single issue, where the PCR court had previously found deficiency, it now found counsel rendered reasonable performance. App. 574-86. And where it had found counsel's errors were prejudicial, it now found no prejudice, even assuming there was deficiency. App. 574-87.

Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari to review the PCR court's order dismissing petitioner's application.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on appeal from a PCR order "depends on the specific issue." *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Appellate courts "defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them." *Id.* (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). But they "review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts." *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839 (citing *Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527).

Whether trial counsel was so ineffective as to deprive petitioner of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *See State v. Samuel*, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (stating appellate court will review with deference findings of fact but de novo whether those facts legally constitute waiver of right to counsel); *cf. State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 632-34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 765-66 (2022) (holding whether given facts constitute a violation of the Fourth Amendment is a question of law reviewed de novo); *State v. Miller*, 441 S.C. 106, 119, 893 S.E.2d 306, 313 (2023) (holding whether a statement was voluntarily made to police is a question of law reviewed de novo).

ARGUMENTS

"The Sixth Amendment guarantees every criminal defendant the reasonably effective assistance of counsel." *Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 379, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) (citations omitted). "In order to prove counsel was ineffective, the applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different." *Von Dohlen v. State*, 360 S.C. 598, 603, 602 S.E.2d 738, 740 (2004). Counsel's performance is deficient if it "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Rhodes v. State*, 349 S.C. 25, 30, 561 S.E.2d 606, 609 (2002) (citations omitted). For prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 693 (1984). The PCR applicant bears the burden of proving his allegations. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

I. The PCR court erred in holding an investigator's testimony was not improper bolstering and impermissible lay opinion because it served no purpose but to inform the jury he believed Frazier.

a. Relevant Facts

After the jury heard Frazier's testimony, the state called Investigator Erdel. Erdel described interviewing Frazier and then explained how he "corroborated" Frazier's story:

Q: And after speaking with Mr. Frazier, what did you do?

A: Well, obviously, we -- you know, we went further with the investigation as far as to corroborate the elements of what he said
....

Q: Were you able to corroborate some of what he told you?

A: Yes.

Q: And what was that?

A: Well as far as -- a lot of things

App. 268:7-17. Erdel explained that he went to the gas station to determine if Frazier's "account of his time leading up to getting to the residence was able to be verified, which it was." App. 268:17-21. He explained that he checked the police calls for service around the time of the alleged kidnapping:

A: So, the calls that you -- that the jury has already heard about, basically I looked at the CAD data to verify the times and kind of pinpoint when those calls took place.

Q: Okay. And were they consistent with Mr. Frazier?

A: They were.

App. 268:22-269:6. The state then emphasized this commentary, asking about what happened "[a]fter speaking with witnesses and corroborating Mr. Frazier's statements" App. 269:10-13. Erdel did not testify the time Frazier was at the gas station or what the CAD data showed—he testified only that he "verified" those parts of Frazier's story. Trial counsel did not object to Erdel's testimony. App. 268:13-14.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel explained she did not object to Erdel's reference to Frazier visiting the gas station because she wanted the jury to understand the timeline about the gas station. App. 493:14-23. She intended to use it to challenge the timeline in Frazier's version of events. App. 493:19-23. She testified she "wasn't thinking [about] it as bolstering" because she wanted to attack his timeline. App. 493:25. Trial counsel did not give a reason for not objecting to Erdel's comment about the CAD data.

At first the PCR court granted petitioner relief on this issue, finding "[t]his sort of testimony very clearly invades on the province of the jury." App. 561. It held Erdel's testimony "was clearly inadmissible, and warranted a timely objection from trial counsel." App. 561. However, in a complete reversal, the PCR court later denied relief writing, "Erdel was merely explaining what he did after speaking to Frazier, and this Court finds this testimony did not

amount to improper corroboration, vouching, or bolstering." App. 599-600. It further found trial counsel's stated reason for not objecting was reasonable. App. 600.

b. Deficiency and Error

"[A] witness may not give an opinion for the purpose of conveying to the jury—*directly or indirectly*—that she believes the victim." *Briggs v. State*, 421 S.C. 316, 324, 806 S.E.2d 713, 717 (2017) (emphasis added). That is "the central point of the prohibition against improper bolstering." *Id.* "[R]easonably competent trial counsel should know to object—absent a valid trial strategy—when [an] interviewer gives testimony that indicates the witness believes the victim, but does not serve some other valid purpose."² *Briggs*, 421 S.C. at 325, 806 S.E.2d at 718.

Trial counsel failed to object to Erdel's testimony even though it "convey[ed] the witness's opinion that the victim is telling the truth," which "is obviously improper bolstering." *Id.* The only purpose in asking Erdel if he could "corroborate" Frazier's story was to elicit his opinion that Frazier was being truthful. The purpose of stating he verified some parts of Frazier's story was to imply that he believed the rest of Frazier's story. That goes beyond his role "as a person who collects facts for the jury to use in the jury's determination of whether the victim was telling the truth." *Briggs*, 421 S.C. at 328, 806 S.E.2d at 720. Critically, Erdel *never* stated the time at which Frazier was at the gas station or explained what the CAD data showed. His testimony served not to present the facts to the jury but to decide the facts himself.

² Many of the recent cases concerning bolstering and vouching, such as *Briggs*, relate to expert interviews with child victims of sexual crimes. Certiorari is particularly warranted on this issue because it would allow the Court to develop the law on bolstering outside of the child sex crimes and forensic interviewer contexts. The Court could further consider the circumstances under which law enforcement officers can testify about their opinions whether a defendant is truthful. *E.g. State v. Pickrell*, Op. No. 28229, 2024 WL 3805283 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 14, 2024).

Had Erdel simply testified what he discovered at the gas station or what the CAD data showed, that alone would not have been improper bolstering or vouching. Such testimony would have properly corroborated parts of Frazier's version of events without expressing or implying Erdel's opinion about Frazier's story. He would have simply explained his investigation, and it would have been up to the jury to determine what to do with the facts he collected. See *Tappeiner v. State*, 416 S.C. 239, 250, 785 S.E.2d 471, 476 (2016) ("Generally, '[t]he assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury.'" (citing *State v. McKerley*, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012) (alteration in original)); *Briggs*, 421 S.C. at 328, 806 S.E.2d at 719-20 (citing *State v. Wright*, 269 S.C. 414, 417, 237 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1977)). But the testimony he gave instead told the jury he had already "decided questions of fact"—that Frazier's version of events was the correct one—and therefore he improperly "invade[d] the province of the jury."³ *Briggs*, 421 S.C. at 329 n.4, 806 S.E.2d at 720 n.4. Therefore, the PCR court erred in finding this testimony was proper and counsel was not deficient.⁴

³ It was especially incumbent upon trial counsel to object to Erdel's testimony here because in petitioner's recorded interview played for the jury, Gruel and Erdel repeatedly—directly and indirectly—accuse of petitioner of lying and reported that Frazier is telling the truth. State's Exhibit 5 at 26:35-27:10, 46:15-46:45, 53:10-54:15. In particular, in that interview Gruel expressly threatened petitioner's credibility: "And now you're going to say he's lying, but I'm gonna tell people you're lying, . . . so a jury says 'What's he lying about? Why is he trying to hide something?'" Exhibit 5 at 42:30-42:50. With that context, it should have been abundantly clear to trial counsel Erdel was impermissibly telling the jury who it should believe and who it should not.

⁴ While the harm of impermissible bolstering is "compounded" when the witness is qualified as an expert, *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 250 n.5, 814 S.E.2d 487, 494 n.5 (2018), as explained below Erdel's non-expert bolstering was still extremely harmful because there was no evidence of a crime except for Frazier's testimony.

Erdel's testimony is similar to the forensic interviewer's report that was improperly admitted in *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011). There, the interviewer's reports "stated that during the interviews, each child had 'provided a compelling disclosure of abuse by appellant'" and concluded the children "provided details consistent with [known] background information." 394 S.C. at 480, 716 S.E.2d at 94 (cleaned up). Erdel's testimony he "corroborated" Frazier's story served exactly the same purpose as stating the children in *Jennings* were "consistent" with other known information. As in *Jennings*, "[t]here is no other way to interpret" his testimony "other than to mean the . . . interviewer believed [Frazier was] being truthful." 394 S.C. at 480, 716 S.E.2d at 94. And, as in *State v. Pickrell*, Op. No. 28229, 2024 WL 3805283 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 14, 2024), the opinion testimony was not "helpful to a clear understanding of a fact in issue." *Pickrell*, Op. No. 28229 at *2. In exactly the same way as Investigator Bailey in *Pickrell*, Erdel's testimony went further than to place the facts before the jury—the direction of the bullet wound there, the unimportant details of Frazier's story here—and instead gave the officer's opinion about what the facts meant. *Id.* That is not valid.

Trial counsel's explanation is not a sound, strategic reason for allowing Erdel's bolstering. See *Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 384, 798 S.E.2d 561, 569 (2017). Her stated strategy was objectively unreasonable because she could have easily objected to the bolstering while also attacking Frazier's timeline during cross-examination. The two are plainly not connected. That counsel intended to attack Frazier's timeline instead indicates she simply failed to appreciate what Erdel's testimony was actually doing. Nowhere in his testimony did he explain what the gas station video shows or when, precisely, he believed Frazier was at the gas station. That was because the purpose of Erdel's testimony was not to establish when Frazier went to the gas station—an unimportant point—but rather to bolster his credibility as someone with a story that

has been verified by a police investigator using outside information.⁵ Trial counsel's decision to allow that testimony without objection was not reasonable. Further, she gave no reason whatsoever for not objecting to his testimony about the CAD data that served the same purpose.

c. Prejudice

At the very beginning of its closing, the state argued, "the defense wants you to not believe anything [Frazier] says, and I am going to ask that you do believe him." App. 332:8-10. Later in closing the state then attacked petitioner's credibility: "And you know who is a liar and who lied for almost an hour straight? Varsheen Smith." App. 340:16-17. The state did this because Frazier's relative credibility was the cornerstone of its case. Frazier's testimony was the *only* evidence that a kidnapping took place or that petitioner possessed a weapon.⁶ Because the state's entire case hinged upon his credibility, the failure to object to the testimony was necessarily prejudicial. *See Jennings*, 394 S.C. at 480, 716 S.E.2d at 94-95 (holding bolstering of children's accounts of events was not harmless where it was "the only evidence" of a crime).

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