RECEIVED

Feb 07 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari from
Beaufort County
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Trial Judge
Honorable G.D. Morgan Jr., PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000551

VAR SHEEN ANTUAN SMITH,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

[Investigator Erdel]: To my knowledge he did not.

Q. Okay. Have you experienced that before?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you explain a little bit your experience with that?

A. It is basically the same thing that Captain Gruel said. You know, there is kind of a street mentality, so to speak. You know, people are typically afraid for any number of reasons, they don't want to be labeled a snitch, they may want to handle it themselves. It is not uncommon for things like that to go unreported.

Q. When you met with Mr. Frazier, what is his demeanor; how is he

⁹ Petitioner only cited page 111 of the transcript in reference to Frazier's testimony. The Petition cites additional testimony elicited during Frazier's cross-examination that was not raised as objectionable in the application, amended application, or at the PCR hearing; thus, any argument related to that testimony is not preserved. (Pet. 13-14; App. 213; Tr. 151).

acting?

A. He was pretty nervous about being there. I would say that his nervousness kind of devolved as the interview progressed to outright fear. He cried pretty hard. Probably—he was probably about as scared as I have ever seen anybody in an interview room and that is saying something. He was pretty scared.

(App. 267-68; Tr. 205-06).

The foregoing is not testimony that Petitioner had a reputation for intimidating witnesses into silence. This Court should go to the source to see what was actually testified to at trial when considering what objection, if any, counsel could have raised. Petitioner's issue statement misconstrues the testimony, which is what the PCR court properly considered in its ruling.

2. The PCR court properly concluded Petitioner did not set forth a valid objection to this testimony and thus did not meet his burden.

In determining whether the PCR court erred, it is critical to examine *what* the PCR court was being asked to rule on. In his application and amended application, Petitioner asserted counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the foregoing as “inflammatory remarks by witnesses.” (App. 426, 450; Tr. 111-12, 181, 205-06.). Although Petitioner asserted these were “inflammatory remarks,” he did not elaborate on a legal basis for objecting.¹⁰

Petitioner likewise did not clarify at the PCR hearing what *legal* objection counsel should have made to this testimony. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, PCR counsel's questioning did not clarify the ground he believed counsel should have used to object. In the portion of the PCR transcript Petitioner relies on, PCR counsel first questioned trial counsel specifically about Petitioner's prior felony conviction. (App. 478 ln. 3-22). PCR counsel then questioned trial counsel—repeatedly—about whether she believed testimony that Frazier was “fearful” was

¹⁰ Petitioner alternately asserted Investigator Erdel's and Captain Gruel's testimony about fear and the no-snitch code constituted improper vouching, but the PCR court separately addressed that argument. (App. 426, 598-600).

objectionable:

Q. So an implication that an individual is fearful of the defendant and that that person has kids that he's thinking of, as you sit here now, do you—do you believe that that's essentially a comment on—

A. Well, I mean, at this point I had heard his pretrial proffer and I mean, the whole of his testimony, he's talking about how he's scared and the, you know. And so I think there is a fine line between him being scared, you know, what he would testify to about this impressions during what he alleged happened versus a general characterization of his character.

So yeah, I think a general characterization of his character I should have object to, but any sort of, he's in fear, I have kids, this is why I do what I do. I would—I did not see that as objectionable.

(App. 478-79).¹¹ Nothing about this question put the Court on notice of the *legal* objection Petitioner was relying on in asserting counsel should have objected.¹² A PCR court should not have to comb testimony with a fine-toothed comb to ascertain what issue is being presented. Petitioner did not clearly present a legal objection to this testimony, and the PCR court properly found he did not meet his burden of proof.¹³

Further, the PCR court properly found Investigator Erdel and Captain Gruel's testimony

¹¹ This is the entire portion Petitioner cites to support his contention that PCR counsel set forth the legal basis for why trial counsel should have objected. Following this, PCR counsel continued to question trial counsel about fear testimony, and trial counsel maintained she did not believe it was objectionable.

¹² Petitioner's reliance on the PCR court's initial order in clarifying this ground is likewise misplaced. As pointed out in the Motion to Reconsider, this portion of the order conflated two separate allegations raised by Petitioner—allegations related to “inflammatory comments” (discussed herein) and allegations related to alleged “bad character” evidence presented by Milledge. (App. 574). In discussing these allegations, the court relied on Rules 404 and 403. Given the way these allegations were combined and the conclusory nature of the analysis, it is difficult to ascertain *what* testimony should have been objected to based on Rule 404(a) versus Rule 404(b). In other words, assuming *arguendo* the PCR court's first order could be relied on as evidence of what Petitioner presented, it does not clearly state what objection counsel should have made to the testimony.

¹³ The lack of clarity in the legal ground Petitioner believed counsel should have used is further illustrated by the PCR court's footnote, where it attempted to ascertain the legal basis Petitioner was relying upon. (App. 595). Ultimately it is Petitioner's burden to clearly articulate and prove his grounds—not the PCR court's burden to comb the record and guess at the legal objection counsel could have raised.

was not objectionable. Testimony about the no-snitch code was not objectionable because it was based on the officers' experience in criminal investigations and common knowledge. Cf. State v. New, 338 S.C. 313, 526 S.E.2d 237 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding solicitor's argument that the testifying inmate would be labeled a 'rat' was not objectionable because the credibility of the witness was an issue and the argument was based upon common knowledge). Likewise, testimony about Frazier's fear was based on Investigator Erdel's observation of Frazier and was not objectionable. Critically, nothing about this testimony can be construed as an impermissible comment on Petitioner's character—the only basis Petitioner raises in his petition.

Finally, Frazier's statement, in context, does not constitute improper character evidence. Frazier was testifying about why he did not immediately call police the night of the kidnapping. Based on Frazier's extensive testimony about the kidnapping itself, Frazier would understandably be afraid of Petitioner. Although Frazier said "I know what kind of guy he is," he did not otherwise elaborate on Petitioner's character or testify to any prior bad acts by Petitioner (other than the kidnapping itself—which Petitioner was on trial for). Thus, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving deficiency.

3. The PCR court properly concluded Petitioner did not prove prejudice.

The PCR court properly found Petitioner did not articulate a valid objection that would have excluded the testimony and thus did not meet his burden of proving prejudice. Further, as set forth herein, the testimony by Investigator Erdel and Captain Gruel was proper and not objectionable. Even if Frazier's statement, "I know what kind of guy he is," could somehow be construed as improper character evidence (which Respondent does NOT concede), it is not reasonably probable the outcome would be different had this passing statement been stricken when Frazier testified extensively about the kidnapping itself. Specifically, Frazier testified Petitioner

put a gun to his stomach, forced him inside the house, put the gun to his head, forced him to his knees, tied his hands behind his back with a belt, hit him in the head with a gun, and told Wallace to stuff a rag in his mouth. (App. 159-67). Based on Frazier's extensive testimony about the kidnapping itself, it is not reasonably probable this passing statement, "I know what kind of guy he is," is the thing that tipped the jury into convicting Petitioner, nor is it reasonably probable the outcome would be different had this statement been stricken. Thus, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not prove prejudice.

III. The PCR court properly found counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the State's closing argument when (1) the solicitor's argument was based on evidence presented, and Petitioner failed to point to any law that existed at the time of trial that indicated the use of "evil" or the argument related to demeanor was improper, and (2) the solicitor's argument did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to violate due process.

Petitioner contends the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to improper closing arguments by the State. Specifically, he contends the solicitor's argument that Petitioner was "evil" invited the jury to judge his character rather than his guilt. Second, he contends comments about his burglary conviction invited the jury to infer his guilt of the crimes charged based on his prior convictions. Finally, he avers attacking his demeanor during the recorded interview highlighted facts irrelevant to his guilt, improperly impugned his character, and unfairly implied his refusal to confess was evidence of his guilty. However, Petitioner has not shown the solicitor's use of the word "evil" or her argument related to his demeanor in this interview was improper. Further, these comments, in context, did not so infect the trial with unfairness as to violate due process.

"A solicitor's closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors. In addition, the argument may not be calculated to arouse the jurors' passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it." State v. Copeland, 321 S.C.

318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). “A solicitor has a right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony.” Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 458, 698 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2010). “[A] prosecutor is expected to comment on the credibility of the witnesses when making a closing argument. Far from improper, . . . doing so is one of the fundamental responsibilities of a lawyer.” State v. Busse, 439 S.C. 104, 111, 886 S.E.2d 208, 212 (2023) (emphasis added). “A prosecutor arguing forcefully during closing argument that the jury should believe a particular witness is well within her proper role as a zealous advocate, so long as the argument is based on evidence admitted during trial.” Id. at 109, 886 S.E. 2d at 211.

“Zealous advocacy crosses the line and becomes improper vouching, however, when the prosecutor indicates to the jury—even implicitly—that her argument as to the credibility of a witness is based on anything other than the evidence admitted.” Id. “The legal concept of “vouching” prohibits a prosecutor from giving the jury any indication she knows something about the credibility of a witness that the jury does not know, or that is based on an event or proceeding outside the presence of the jury”. Id.

“Improper comments do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and the appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument.” Vasquez, 388 S.C. at 458, 698 S.E.2d at 566. In determining whether an improper comment prejudiced a defendant, “[t]he relevant question is whether the prosecutors’ comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986). “On appeal, the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor’s argument in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge’s instructions adequately cured the improper argument and whether there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant’s guilt.” Id.

1. The solicitor's argument was based on evidence presented, and Petitioner has failed to point to any law that existed at the time of trial that indicated the use of "evil" or the argument related to demeanor was improper.

In his petition, Petitioner cites to the following as alleged improper comments by the solicitor:

We heard Investigator Erdel say that [Frazier] was scared, he was terrified, he was upset, he was in fear. He was frightened and he was crying. He even went so far to say that he put his fear and the top of anybody he had ever questioned and he told you that he's been in law enforcement since the '90s. [Frazier] is a scared man. And rightfully so.

(App. 336).

People weren't calling the police like they should. And [Frazier] fell subject to that. He told you he was scared of this man. This man is a big intimidator. You heard that on the recording. And more importantly he told you, I have kids. I have two kids that I take care of and they live with me and I have to think about their safety. I'm raising those kids, no one else. [Frazier] couldn't be a snitch. You don't live in this world, you don't live on those streets having the title snitch. And [Frazier] wasn't going to do that, he had children that he had to live for.

(App. 337).

Will you talk, [Petitioner]? It depends, that is what he said. He is there to talk about this missing roommate and a kidnapping at gun point of somebody and he finds it comical. He is laughing. He's smirking. He does not care. He is smug.

(App. 344).

And finally, possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a crime of violence. I wonder what this shows you? This isn't the first time Mr. Smith has seen the inside of a courtroom. He's been convicted of burglary. Breaking into somebody's house. The Judge is going to instruct you that burglary in South Carolina is defined as a crime of violence.

(App. 347).

I want to leave you with one last thing, and that is Versheen Smith. Look at this man. This is a man who doesn't care. This is a man who thinks that he is invincible. This is a man who thinks that nobody is going to snitch on him. This is not a man who is going to tell the truth. This is a man who was just told his roommate is missing and this is how he's acting. A man that laughs at a missing person. A man that laughs at kidnapping. That is an evil man.

And that is what Andre told you. He said, He is an evil man. And a man that can have that sort of reaction is speaking with police is not only an evil man, he is a guilty man. And I ask that you use your common sense. And you know that this man, this evil man who finds all of this comical for another person's nightmare is just a laugh to him. He is an evil man and a guilty man.

(App. 347).¹⁴

Initially, this PCR court properly found the foregoing were reasonable inferences from the evidence presented at trial.¹⁵ Petitioner has not challenged this finding, making it law of the case.

Respondent agrees with Petitioner's contention that "there are other ways solicitors can inject impermissible considerations into a proceeding and violate defendants' right to a fair trial." (Pet. 18). Critically, however, Petitioner has not pointed to any law that existed at the time of trial to show the State's comments on his demeanor during his interview or calling him "evil" was

¹⁴ In his original application, Petitioner also cited to the following:

What do we know after all of this happens, after [Frazier] is kidnapped, after Monte goes missing? That man right there, like the coward that he is, he flees. He runs away and he hides in rural Georgia. He's not there visiting his wife. Or is girlfriend is in Walterboro, so maybe he is visiting his wife in Georgia, but that is beside the point. No, he is not there visiting his wife. He's hiding. He told Shabonda, I know the police are looking for me. She didn't ask him that, he gives her this information.

So does he come in? No, he runs, he hides, and it takes the U.S. Marshals to track him down and find him and it takes a Beaufort police officer to bring him back to South Carolina. He doesn't visit any family, he was hiding from this courtroom.

(Tr. 282-83). However, he does not raise any issue with this argument on appeal, making the PCR court's ruling that this was not improper the law of the case.

¹⁵ Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, *nothing* in the solicitor's argument suggested the solicitor argued Petitioner "would hurt children to keep people from 'snitching'" (Pet. 18).

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